#### MINUTES CITY OF ST. CHARLES, IL PLAN COMMISSION TUESDAY, APRIL 22, 2014

Members Present: Vice Chair Tim Kessler

Tom Schuetz Brian Doyle Steve Gaugel Curt Henningson

Tom Pretz

Sue Amatangelo James Holderfield

Members Absent: Todd Wallace

Also Present: Russell Colby, Planning Division Mgr.

Court Reporter

#### 1. Call to order

The meeting was called to order at 7:00 p.m. by Vice Chair Kessler.

#### 2. Roll Call

Vice Chair Kessler called the roll. A quorum was present.

#### 3. Presentation of minutes of the March 18, 2014 meeting.

A motion was made by Ms. Amatangelo, seconded by Mr. Schuetz and unanimously passed by voice vote to accept the minutes of the April 8, 2014 meeting.

#### **PUBLIC HEARING**

#### 4. 217-221 S. 2<sup>nd</sup> St. (Craig Bobowiec)

Application for Map Amendment from CBD-2 Mixed Use Business District to CBD-1 Central Business District.

The attached transcript prepared by Chicago Area Real Time Court Reporting is by reference hereby made a part of these minutes.

Motion was made by Mr. Scheutz to close the public hearing. Seconded by Mr. Gaugel.

Roll Call Vote:

Ayes: Henningson, Gaugel, Pretz, Doyle, Amatangelo, Holderfield, Kessler, Schuetz

Navs:

Absent: Wallace

Motion carried: 8-0

#### **MEETING**

Minutes – St. Charles Plan Commission Tuesday, April 22, 2014 Page 2

#### 6. 217-221 S. 2<sup>nd</sup> St. (Craig Bobowiec)

Application for Map Amendment from CBD-2 Mixed Use Business District to CBD-1 Central Business District.

The attached transcript prepared by Chicago Area Real Time Court Reporting is by reference hereby made a part of these minutes.

Motion was made by Ms. Amatangelo to recommend approval of the Application for Map Amendment. Seconded by Mr. Pretz.

Roll Call Vote:

Ayes: Henningson, Gaugel, Pretz, Doyle, Amatangelo, Holderfield, Kessler, Schuetz

Nays:

Absent: Wallace

Motion carried: 8-0

#### **PUBLIC HEARING**

#### **5.** General Amendment (Terry Grove)

Amendment to Chapter 17.28 "Signs" regarding off-premise signs in the CBD-1 and CBD-2 zoning districts.

The attached transcript prepared by Chicago Area Real Time Court Reporting is by reference hereby made a part of these minutes.

Motion was made by Mr. Doyle to close the public hearing. Seconded by Ms. Amatangelo.

Roll Call Vote:

Ayes: Henningson, Gaugel, Pretz, Doyle, Amatangelo, Holderfield, Kessler, Schuetz

Nays:

Absent: Wallace

Motion carried: 8-0

#### **MEETING**

#### **7.** General Amendment (Terry Grove)

Amendment to Chapter 17.28 "Signs" regarding off-premise signs in the CBD-1 and CBD-2 zoning districts.

The attached transcript prepared by Chicago Area Real Time Court Reporting is by reference hereby made a part of these minutes.

Motion was made by Mr. Doyle to recommend approval of the Application for General Amendment. Seconded by Mr. Schuetz.

Roll Call Vote:

#### Minutes – St. Charles Plan Commission Tuesday, April 22, 2014 Page 3

Ayes: Henningson, Gaugel, Pretz, Doyle, Amatangelo, Holderfield, Kessler, Schuetz

Nays:

Absent: Wallace

Motion carried: 8-0

#### 8. Meeting Announcements

Tuesday, May 6, 2014 at 7:00pm Council Chambers Tuesday, May 20, 2014 at 7:00pm Council Chambers Tuesday, June 3, 2014 at 7:00pm Council Chambers

- 9. Additional Business from Plan Commission Members, Staff, or Citizens.
- 10. Adjournment at 7:50pm.

```
1
              100256A
 1
 2
                   STATE OF ILLINOIS
                                             SS.
 3
                   COUNTY OF K A N E
                              BEFORE THE PLAN COMMISSION
 4
                              OF THE CITY OF ST. CHARLES
 5
                   In Re the Matter of:
 6
                   217-221 South 2nd Street -
 7
                   Application for Map
                   Amendment from
 8
                   CBD-2 Mixed Use Business
 9
                   District to CBD-1 Central
                   Business District.
10
11
12
13
                                REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS
14
                                   Council Chambers
15
                                  2 East Main Street
                            St. Charles, Illinois 60174
16
17
                                    April 22, 2014
                                7:00 p.m. to 7:36 p.m.
18
19
20
21
22
23
              Reported by: Paula M. Quetsch, CSR, RPR
                            Notary Public, Kane County, Illinois
24
```

				2
1	PF	RESENT:		
2		MR.	TIM KESSLER, Acting Chairman;	
3		MS.	SUE AMATANGELO, Member;	
4		MR.	BRIAN DOYLE, Member;	
5		MR.	STEVE GAUGEL, Member;	
6		MR.	CURT HENNINGSON, Member;	
7		MR.	JAMES HOLDERFIELD, Member;	
8		MR.	TOM PRETZ, Member; and	
9		MR.	TOM SCHUETZ, Member.	
10				
11	AL	SO PRES	ENT:	
12		MR.	RUSSELL COLBY, Planning Division Manager.	
13				
14				
15				
16				
17				
18				
19				
20				
21				
22				
23				
24				

ĺ		
		3
1		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: This meeting of the
2	S	t. Charles Plan Commission will come to order.
3		Amatangelo.
4		MEMBER AMATANGELO: Here.
5	19:00:44	CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Doyle.
6		MEMBER DOYLE: Here.
7		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Schuetz.
8		MEMBER SCHUETZ: Here.
9		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Gaugel.
10	19:00:47	MEMBER GAUGEL: Here.
11		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Pretz.
12		MEMBER PRETZ: Here.
13		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Henningson.
14		MEMBER HENNINGSON: Here.
15	19:00:49	CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Holderfield.
16		MEMBER HOLDERFIELD: Here.
17		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Kessler, here.
18		We have No. 3 on the agenda is a presentation
19	О	f minutes for the April 8th meeting.
20	19:00:59	Is there a motion?
21		MEMBER AMATANGELO: So moved.
22		MEMBER SCHUETZ: Second.
23		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: All in favor.
24		(Ayes heard.)

		4
1		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: So moved.
2		No. 4 on our agenda is actually, Nos. 4
3		and 5 are a public hearing, so I just want to explain
4		a little bit about the procedure.
5	19:01:22	The Plan Commission is appointed by the City
6		Council, and the Commission conducts public hearings
7		on applications that come before the City for certain
8		things. The Plan Commission hears all the evidence
9		related to the application both in support of the
10	19:01:35	application, as well as against it.
11		Once the Plan Commission has decided that
12		they have all the information in order to make a
13		recommendation to the City Council, then the public
14		hearing will be closed, and either that same day or at
15	19:01:45	a subsequent meeting the Plan Commission will vote
16		whether to recommend approval or denial of the
17		application to the City Council.
18		Any questions?
19		(No response.)
20	19:01:55	CHAIRMAN KESSLER: All right.
21		Everything that is being said today is on the record.
22		There's a court reporter in the room today, and,
23		therefore, she can only take one voice at a time. So
24		I'd ask that everyone please refrain from talking

		5
1		until you're recognized by the chair. If do you wish
2		to speak, you can approach the Lectern, speak into the
3		microphone, state your first and last name, spell your
4		last name, and state your address for the record.
5	19:02:19	We'd like to swear in we have two public
6		hearing applications. We can swear in for both of
7		them at the same time. And anyone who wishes to offer
8		any testimony, including making comments or asking
9		questions for any of the items that are on the agenda
10	19:02:35	for public hearing I'd ask that you be sworn in now.
11		So please raise your right hands.
12		(Six witnesses duly sworn.)
13		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: We'll start with the
14		application for 217-221 South 2nd Street. It's an
15	19:03:03	application for map amendment from CBD-2 Mixed Use
16		Business District to CBD-1 Central Business District.
17		Exhibit A is an application for a map
18		amendment to include 217-221 South 2nd Street
19		submitted by Craig Bobowiec dated March 26th, 2014,
20	19:03:25	the staff report from Russell Colby, Planning Division
21		Manager, dated April 18th, 2014, and a letter from
22		Jotham Stein requesting continuance of the public
23		hearing dated April 8th, 2014.
24		Is that it for exhibits?

6 1 MR. COLBY: I want to make a couple 2 comments before we have the applicant present. 3 As you're aware, Todd Wallace, our chairman, 4 isn't here this evening. I did speak to him prior to 5 19:03:56 the meeting, and he indicated that I think at some point in the past he had communicated briefly with the 6 7 applicant. So he felt it would represent a conflict of interest if he were to be chairing this evening. 8 9 He's absent for other reasons, but he did state he 19:04:09 10 would recuse himself if it is continued to a future 11 meeting where he is present. 12 Another item I wanted to point out, 13 Exhibit C, which is the letter from Jotham Stein 14 requesting we continue the public hearing, we conferred 15 19:04:21 with the City attorney to verify that continuance of 16 the hearing is entirely the Plan Commission's 17 So if the Plan Commission so chooses to di screti on. 18 continue the hearing, you may, or you may choose not 19 It's entirely within your discretion. 19:04:37 20 CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Russ, would you say 21 that it might be appropriate since notice has been 22 made to surrounding property owners that we should conduct the public hearing but we may choose to 23 24 continue it?

		7
1		MR. COLBY: Yes, that is an option. If
2		the Plan Commission would like to conduct the hearing
3		and continue it and keep it open to the date that's
4		been requested, that's an option. You can also choose
5	19:05:03	to conduct the hearing and close on it tonight or
6		simply continue it to a future date.
7		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Any discussion on
8		that? Anybody have any comment on the procedure for
9		that, any preference?
10	19:05:17	(No response.)
11		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Then I think I'm
12		sorry, Sue. Go ahead.
13		MEMBER AMATANGELO: I would just make a
14		recommendation to continue it. I don't know if all the
15	19:05:29	parties present will be here at the next you know,
16		if we do it now and hold it, then the parties here
17		today may be different. I would rather do it all at
18		one time if we can do it that way.
19		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Okay.
20	19:05:44	MEMBER AMATANGELO: That's only my
21		recommendation, though.
22		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Any discussion
23		about that?
24		MEMBER DOYLE: I would be inclined to

8 1 suggest that we hold the public hearing tonight and strongly consider continuing it after discussion. 2 3 I noted in the exhibit Mr. Stein requests 4 that the entire public hearing be continued. 5 19:06:09 that since the proceedings here are being recorded and 6 there will be a transcript of the entire proceedings verbatim -- there's no argument in the letter that 7 8 really substantiates why the entire hearing is to be 9 continued, but it would all be on the record for him 19:06:29 10 to comment at a later date. 11 I think that we should strongly consider 12 continuing it after discussion tonight because, A, 13 there are questions that we may pose to the applicant 14 or to staff for additional information that we would 15 19:06:46 want to have brought back to us. If there are questions and there's additional information and we 16 17 don't discuss it until May 20th, we may be in a 18 position of having to continue it again on May 20th, 19 and I think that is a burden on the applicant to have 19:07:02 20 to wait that long. 21 But the second reason is that there may also 22 be pertinent information that this property owner, 23 Mr. Stein, has to -- that the Commission will be 24 interested in hearing in order to make a determination.

	9
	So I would table that question until the end of
	tonight's proceeding but that's my inclination.
	MEMBER AMATANGELO: And I'm fine with
	that if my fellow commissioners feel the same way.
19:07:39	MEMBER PRETZ: My recommendation would
	be that we do conduct the public hearing and if we do
	have adequate information that we do finish the public
	hearing tonight.
	CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Well, the impression
19:07:53	I have is that we will conduct the public hearing,
	and, as normal, at the end of the public hearing we'll
	decide whether to close the public hearing or continue
	it to a later date.
	So the applicant is prepared to sir,
19:08:15	go ahead.
	There is no presentation?
	MR. COLBY: No.
	CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Okay.
	MR. COOKE: I'm Jim Cooke, attorney for
19:08:26	the applicant, C-o-o-k-e, 215 West Illinois Street,
	St. Charles, Illinois.
	We look at this request to be fairly simple
	because in the context of the historical aspect of
	this whole thing we consider it to be somewhat of an
	19:07:53 19:08:15

ı		<u> </u>
	·	10
1		oversight that's also been a misunderstanding of my
2		client's situation or his perspective.
3		My client has been a resident of St. Charles
4		for about 30 years now. He purchased the property in
5	19:08:57	1987. At that time the property was zoned B3 and was
6		a tavern, bar, and grill as it is somewhat now. It
7		had been that since 1924, I believe, around the 1920s,
8		so it has a long history in its presence use.
9		In 2006 the City undertook to do a
10	19:09:20	comprehensive rezoning of much of the city, if not all.
11		At that time we consider it to be an oversight this
12		block was zoned CBD-2, which, unfortunately, if you
13		look at that doesn't allow for taverns, bars, or grills.
14		Now, as an existing operation it is a legal
15	19:09:44	nonconforming use. However, if that operation should
16		cease and no longer function go out of business, in
17		other words he will not be able to rent that
18		facility to another operator for that use.
19		Unfortunately, we believe that creates a
20	19:10:03	hardship on my client and basically makes it a
21		situation where it diminishes the value of the property.
22		We think that's the highest and best use at this point
23		and has been historically for quite a while.
24		I guess that would be my basic argument. I

		11
1		don't want to complicate it more than I have to.
2		We're certainly here to answer any questions,
3		but what we're looking for now is I think it's CBC-1
4		which would allow that. If you look at the overview
5	19:10:30	map, you'll see that right across Route 31, that's a
6		CBC-1 district over there. So it's not like you
7		know, this is not pinpoint zoning just out of nowhere.
8		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Okay.
9		MR. COOKE: Thank you.
10	19:10:50	CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Any questions from
11		the Plan Commission?
12		MEMBER HENNINGSON: I have a question
13		of staff.
14		What kind of notice was given to the
15	19:11:01	surrounding neighbors?
16		MR. COLBY: For this application they
17		were sent all property owners within 250 feet of
18		the property were sent a letter identifying the type
19		of application and what was being requested. It's a
20	19:11:14	pretty standard notice. It also comes with information
21		about the Plan Commission's public hearing process and
22		also the findings of fact.
23		MEMBER HENNINGSON: Did you hear from
24		anyone else beside Jotham?

		<u> </u>
		12
1		MR. COLBY: I communicated with, I
2		believe three property owners who called and inquired
3		just generally about what was the purpose of the
4		application. I provided the information and there was
5	19:11:37	no further followup.
6		MEMBER HENNINGSON: And did Jotham give
7		you did he write anything else besides the letter
8		we received?
9		MR. COLBY: No. He contacted me by phone,
10	19:11:48	and I explained the situation and he submitted the
11		letter.
12		MR. COOKE: For the record, we did reach
13		out to Kevin's Service Station, and he was not
14		interested in joining our cause here to rezone his
15	19:12:04	property, but he was not in opposition. At least he
16		expressed that to us. I'm not testifying for him; I'm
17		just telling you our experience.
18		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Is his property
19		nonconformi ng?
20	19:12:15	MR. COOKE: I believe it is.
21		MR. COLBY: His property is also zoned
22		CBD-2, and the use there is legal nonconforming status.
23		MEMBER GAUGEL: If my understanding is
24		correct, if it was zoned CBC-1, he would still be

		13
1		nonconformi ng.
2		MR. COLBY: That's correct.
3		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: But it's legal
4		nonconformi ng?
5	19:12:36	MR. COLBY: Yes. Legal nonconforming is
6		what I should have stated.
7		MEMBER GAUGEL: Can I ask another
8		question of Russ?
9		There's two buildings there, 217 and 221.
10	19:12:53	The tavern that's currently in operation is just in
11		221, if my understanding is correct. If it were if
12		we were to adopt the change, would then 217 be allowed
13		to house a tavern if he decided to expand into that
14		second building?
15	19:13:15	MR. COLBY: Yes. In terms of it being a
16		permitted use in the zoning district, yes, you could
17		do that. There's other factors that have to be
18		considered such as parking, but assuming that the
19		other zoning standards could be met in terms of the
20	19:13:31	use, yes, that would be a permitted use in that
21		building, as well.
22		MEMBER GAUGEL: So this parcel, then, it
23		can't just be 211 or I'm sorry, 221 or 217? It has
24		to be the entire parcel?

i		
	·	14
1		MR. COLBY: Yes. My understanding is
2		it's a single tax parcel. The applicant could request
3		to have a smaller area rezoned based on a legal
4		description, but we typically discourage that because
5	19:13:59	it's preferred to have one zoning destination for
6		every tax parcel.
7		MEMBER GAUGEL: Another question, if
8		I may.
9		Do you know of any others I know Kevin's
10	19:14:10	is nonconforming, but are there any other properties
11		down that same corridor, basically from Prairie, that
12		are in the current CBD-2 that are legal nonconforming
13		that you're aware of?
14		MR. COLBY: There aren't any that I'm
15	19:14:29	aware of. I believe it's mostly residential uses and
16		office uses which are permitted in the CBD-2 district
17		south of here.
18		MEMBER SCHUETZ: When that was rezoned,
19		I guess there was some thought put into this. I mean,
20	19:14:47	is this the proper place to ask the question? What
21		would the ramifications be if nothing is done and how
22		long a time period?
23		MR. COLBY: In terms of if nothing is
24		done to change the zoning of this property, the legal

ĺ		
		15
1		nonconforming use of the restaurant/bar could continue
2		in perpetuity provided the use was not abandoned at
3		any point, six months of the use not being occupied.
4		So if the space was vacant for six months,
5	19:15:19	it could not be reoccupied by that same use. But if
6		it was reoccupied by another bar or restaurant during
7		that six-month time period, it could continue to
8		operate as a legal nonconforming use.
9		MEMBER SCHUETZ: So if things stayed
10	19:15:35	status quo, then everything is fine, is that what
11		you' re sayi ng?
12		MR. COLBY: Yes. As long as there's a
13		use operating there.
14		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Brian?
15	19:15:47	MEMBER DOYLE: I have a question for the
16		applicant, Mr. Cooke or Mr. Bobowiec.
17		This is a restaurant and tavern?
18		MR. BOBOWIEC: Yes. Craig Bobowiec,
19		B-o-b-o-w-i-e-c, 508 Cedar Street.
20	19:16:09	MEMBER DOYLE: If a restaurant and
21		tavern were permitted uses on this parcel as a CBD-2,
22		would you be applying for a map amendment tonight?
23		MR. BOBOWIEC: Not at all. I want to be
24		compliant. The property has been compliant since the

16 1 building has been turned into that use. 2 Part of the issue was back in 2006, being 3 that the whole entire city did a massive rezoning, 4 none of the property owners that were affected were 5 19:16:41 even notified, and they said because it's a citywide thing, State of Illinois statute allowed the City to 6 7 do this. We were never even notified. I just found out about this in December of 2012 because in the 8 9 change of the zoning there's also a new sign ordinance 19:16:59 10 for pole signs. 11 So Bob Vann had sent me a notice because 12 they were going to make us comply by last fall, and he 13 showed me a page of the zoning ordinance showing the zoning I'm in and why I'm part of this, and that's 14 19:17:15 15 where it first alerted me. I never knew this for the 16 last seven years because we were never even given an opportunity to discuss it, raise an issue before you 17 18 or the City Council. They just did it without -- I 19 just think for a small town it wasn't fair. 19:17:28 20 I'm just asking to give me back what -- I 21 bought the property with this zoning, with this value, 22 with this use. I'm not asking for anything that I 23 didn't have prior. I'm just asking to comply. 24 MEMBER DOYLE: So the reason why I ask

i		
		17
1		that question is because there are additional
2		entitlements that come with CBC-1. CBC-1 is intended as
3		an underlying zoning district for more intensive uses.
4		I'm hearing you say that aside from the
5	19:17:58	permitted use for restaurants and taverns you don't
6		necessarily have an interest in a more intensive
7		usage; you simply want to use the property under the
8		current use in perpetuity without the diminishing
9		value factor in terms of its legal nonconforming status.
10	19:18:21	MR. BOBOWIEC: Because I never wanted to
11		be a bar owner when I bought it. The business came
12		with the property, and I leased it out to an operator
13		ever since, and part of their lease agreement has
14		always been a stipulation that if the property was to
15	19:18:33	ever sell, if they're the operators they would have
16		the first right of refusal. Well, that's kind of
17		going south. Now that the property isn't complying,
18		who would really want to even buy the property?
19		MEMBER DOYLE: So I want to ask a
20	19:18:48	hypothetical question of you and the staff
21		simultaneously. I'm not sure which comes first, the
22		chicken or the egg.
23		An alternate remedy to this because I
24		have some questions about the precedent that we're

		18
1		setting in expanding the central business district area.
2		It doesn't mean that I'm opposed to your application,
3		I just have some questions about that.
4		An alternate remedy would be to change the
5	19:19:19	permitted use of the CBD-2, and, for instance, a
6		conservative remedy would be an application to make
7		restaurants and taverns special uses in CBD-2.
8		Russ, was that remedy considered as something
9		that would be put forward to the Plan Commission or to
10	19: 19: 45	the Planning and Development Committee?
11		MR. COLBY: No, it was not something
12		that staff recommended to the applicant. We were
13		approached about this.
14		I think the thought was the CBD-2 district
15	19:19:57	covers a pretty wide area, and it goes fairly deep into
16		some residential neighborhoods. It includes areas
17		that you would consider more to be residential versus
18		sort of transitional, and when the zoning ordinance
19		was originally drafted back in 2005, 2006, the concern
20	19:20:20	was allowing those more intensive business uses in that
21		district probably wouldn't be appropriate given that
22		it was going to extend so far into the neighborhoods.
23		So it was not an option that we considered.
24		MEMBER DOYLE: Yes. And I that makes

1		<u> </u>
		19
1		sense to me in hindsight.
2		The things that I'm weighing here are right
3		now there's a very clear line between the central
4		business district and what I'll call the sort of
5	19:20:55	transitional business district that's the buffer
6		between the central downtown and the residential areas.
7		If we're going to consider the application
8		and basically change what's right now a pretty clear
9		line running along south and north 2nd Street and
10	19:21:14	create a cutout that comes farther west, the question
11		then becomes, is there any logical boundary, then, or
12		do we just sort of let it be a patchwork? Does it
13		shift over time?
14		If the comprehensive plan and the rationale
15	19:21:32	for this is that there should be a buffer area, in
16		this area the buffer is about two blocks, so we're now
17		limiting that buffer to one block.
18		So those are some of my questions.
19		If restaurants and taverns were a special
20	19:21:52	use, first of all, are special uses if the property
21		changes ownership, does the special use persist, or
22		does it need to be
23		MR. COLBY: Yes. The special use remains
24		with the property unless there's some condition that's

20 written into the special use ordinance that would make 1 2 it lapse under certain conditions. Generally, as long 3 as the special use is operating and hasn't been 4 abandoned for a significant period of time, it remains. 19:22:19 5 MEMBER DOYLE: The reason why I raise this as an alternate remedy is because I have some 6 7 reservations about changing what right now is a clear boundary between the central business district and the 8 periphery business district, and yet I'm very 9 19:22:37 10 sympathetic with the argument that the applicant has 11 made, and I feel some relief for the applicant is in order. 12 13 I'm wondering if designating restaurants and 14 taverns as a special use in CBD-2 which then doesn't 19:22:55 15 make it an automatic permitted use but subject to 16 review would give the City the flexibility to grant 17 the relief to the applicant that's being requested but 18 not open a Pandora's box in terms of redelineating and 19 opening the possibility for redelineation of the 19:23:22 20 central business district. 21 MR. COLBY: I would say what you're 22 suggesting is a possibility. We'd have to write some 23 pretty stringent standards into that amendment so that 24 the restaurants and bars could only be allowed in

ı		
		21
1		pretty limited situations. We'd have to come up with
2		some criteria that would define what types of
3		properties that would be appropriate for.
4		Because with special uses really in essence
5	19:23:50	I think we've discussed this before with the Plan
6		Commission. Special use is really a permitted use,
7		and the onus is on the City to show that it's not
8		appropriate for a certain property, which means that
9		in most cases, unless there's some unusual circumstances
10	19:24:05	the City is in a position where they need to approve
11		the special use. So it doesn't give the ability to
12		pick and choose where they think it's appropriate or
13		not appropriate, so we'd have to look at criteria to
14		do that.
15	19:24:18	MEMBER DOYLE: So alternatively the
16		implicit question I'm raising here is if it's not
17		those criteria that apply to a special use, what are
18		the criteria that apply to what parcels are eligible
19		for CBC-1 and the more intensive land use entitlements
20	19:24:44	that come with a CBC-1 designation?
21		MR. COLBY: I can offer some comments
22		just about how the zoning came to be the zoning map
23		where it is.
24		When the City went through the exercise of

		22
1		rezoning, there were lines essentially drawn on a map
2		to try and reflect what was sort of an existing
3		development pattern at the time. The lines of CBC-1
4		versus CBD-2 going down Route 31 in this area, from
5	19:25:15	what I can tell from all of the discussions that
6		occurred at that point the zoning commission set out
7		to review this, there wasn't a significant amount of
8		discussion about where that line would fall in this
9		general area.
10	19:25:23	I do know there was quite a bit of discussion
11		about some of the quadrants in downtown. Particularly
12		the northwest quadrant there was significant amount of
13		discussion, and as a result of that the lines did
14		shift around quite a bit. But if you look in the
15	19:25:38	staff report at the pre-2006 zoning map, you'll see it
16		was a hodgepodge of zoning districts, and some of it
17		was in the B2C district, which is sort of the downtown
18		district, and there are commercial districts around
19		that that are really more reflective of what you might
20	19:26:03	see on Randall Road, for instance.
21		What the City was trying to do was fit the
22		development pattern into these two zoning districts,
23		and when those lines were placed, I don't think there
24		was a consideration of the potential impact to some of

ı		
		23
1		these properties in the long term both in terms of the
2		uses and also potential for how they would be developed.
3		It was an attempt to try and come up with zoning
4		districts we thought made sense, but there may not
5	19:26:34	have been a significant level of analysis to say that
6		this street, Route 31, would be the defining boundary.
7		Additionally, on the other periphery of
8		downtown, the other sides of downtown the CBD district
9		is a lot more jagged; the line bounces around more and
10	19:26:54	cuts through property. It's kind of unusual in this
11		area that it is a little more consistent.
12		MEMBER DOYLE: Do you perceive any I
13		don't know what the right word is risk or uncertainty
14		that we might sort of open up by changing this
15	19:27:20	boundary line, does it raise questions going forward?
16		I note that the staff report doesn't have a
17		recommendation.
18		MR. COLBY: It is a recommendation for
19		approval.
20	19:27:32	MEMBER DOYLE: Oh, it is? I'm sorry. I
21		overlooked that. You're right. Thank you.
22		So I guess that answers my question. You
23		don't perceive any
24		MR. COLBY: Just to offer some comment

		24
1		on that, we discussed with the applicant that it would
2		probably make sense that if it was possible when this
3		property is being rezoned the property immediately
4		north of it, the Kevin's property, has potential to be
5	19:28:04	rezoned to the CBC-1 district, as well.
6		Just looking at the map generally, I think
7		the boundary for the CBC-1 and CBD-2 district could
8		very easily have been placed halfway through this
9		block so the properties fronting 31 would be the CBC-1
10	19:28:24	district. I'm not sure why that wasn't done, but
11		there's certainly potential for that to occur as
12		individual requests are made on these properties.
13		MEMBER DOYLE: I thought that, too,
14		except that the tavern doesn't front on 31.
15	19:28:39	MR. BOBOWIEC: See, what's weird about
16		that building is the 208 is Indiana Street. The front
17		door faces 31, so it doesn't front, but upstairs there
18		are apartments and there's a staircase, but the
19		staircase is an Indiana address.
20	19:28:56	So as far as the addressing, the tavern is
21		considered frontage on Route 31, and the staircase to
22		the upper apartments is an Indiana Street address.
23		MEMBER DOYLE: Okay. That's helpful.
24		To me that's significant because one of my concerns

		25
1		was the frontage is an opportunity to sort of draw
2		some kind of boundary that says, you know, this is on
3		Route 31, it's a State highway, it's a major
4		thoroughfare, and it's logical to include that in the
5	19:29:33	central business district. Once you turn the corner
6		and you have a tavern fronting on Indiana
7		MR. BOBOWIEC: There's an exit but it's
8		a secondary exit.
9		MEMBER DOYLE: I think whether it has to
10	19:29:49	be formalized or whether we just sort of make a note of
11		that in terms of our deliberations, that to me removes
12		a big reservation I had about the map amendment.
13		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: I'd like to just
14		comment a little bit on your observation. And, once
15	19:30:08	again, I appreciate you coming up with an alternative
16		to achieve the same goal.
17		I'd be concerned about opening up a Pandora's
18		box for a special use in CBC-1. I could also point
19		out that the other major thoroughfares we do overlay
20	19:30:30	districts on properties all the time, and it's pretty
21		common both east and west of the river. And I
22		consider this kind of the same thing.
23		I mean, Route 31 has always been a business
24		demarcation, a street with businesses and residences,

ĺ		
		26
1		and they've coexisted for all these years.
2		I also don't think that CBC-1 I don't
3		think there are that many properties that are going to
4		have the same condition that Craig's property does.
5	19:31:04	Kevin's is one but then you keep moving closer to town
6		and they don't; they fit within CBC-1.
7		Given the fact that I think that boundary
8		was I don't want to say arbitrary, but there was
9		not a lot of consideration put into it other than,
10	19:31:21	"Okay. We can mark it here," if there was you know,
11		if you had found significant history of discussion on
12		all those properties along 31 when this was done in
13		2006, then perhaps there would be a reason to
14		discuss it.
15	19:31:38	I'm inclined to think that this is the sort
16		of thing that we do in other parts of town pretty
17		regularly. So that's my observations.
18		MEMBER SCHUETZ: Russ, can you comment,
19		when the City I don't believe you were involved at
20	19:31:55	that point back in 2006. Were you?
21		MR. COLBY: No, I was not.
22		MEMBER SCHUETZ: I didn't think so.
23		When the City did this do you anticipate or from
24		what you've looked at, had they anticipated these

		27
1		owners to come forward to ask for this?
2		MR. COLBY: I have seen in some of the
3		minutes that there were issues raised with nonconforming
4		uses where there was a situation where someone was
5	19:32:22	aware that clearly a use that existed that was legal
6		was going to be made nonconforming, and the conclusion
7		and discussion always was, well, this person has the
8		ability to request a map amendment or a rezoning or
9		some other request at some point in time.
10	19:32:37	MEMBER SCHUETZ: So this is not unusual,
11		and this is what they had anticipated?
12		MR. COLBY: Yes, I would say so.
13		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Anything else?
14		(No response.)
15	19:32:55	CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Anything from the
16		public?
17		(No response.)
18		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Okay. Do we have
19		now would be an appropriate time to do we want to
20	19:33:07	close the public hearing? Do we have enough
21		information? Do we want to in light of the letter
22		and the evidence, do we want to keep it open to a
23		subsequent meeting?
24		MEMBER HENNINGSON: I'd just like to

i	_	
		28
1		give an opinion before we do a motion.
2		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Sure.
3		MEMBER HENNINGSON: In getting Jotham's
4		letter, I would hope that he would have maybe written
5	19:33:30	a letter regarding what he was thinking, why he wants
6		to postpone it.
7		So I would feel comfortable on closing the
8		public hearing tonight, and Jotham always has the
9		option to go to planning and development.
10	19:33:51	MEMBER SCHUETZ: And I would agree.
11		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Do we have a motion?
12		MEMBER SCHUETZ: I'll motion that we
13		close the public hearing.
14		MEMBER GAUGEL: Second.
15	19:33:59	CHAIRMAN KESSLER: All in favor.
16		(Ayes heard.)
17		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Amatangelo.
18		MEMBER AMATANGELO: Yes.
19		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Doyle.
20	19:34:05	MEMBER DOYLE: Yes.
21		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Schuetz.
22		MEMBER SCHUETZ: Yes.
23		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Pretz.
24		MEMBER PRETZ: Yes.

		29
1		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Gaugel.
2		MEMBER GAUGEL: Yes.
3		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Henningson.
4		MEMBER HENNINGSON: Yes.
5		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Holderfield.
6		MEMBER HOLDERFIELD: Yes.
7		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Kessler, yes.
8		Can we make a motion to approve the agenda
9		item ahead?
10	19:34:27	MR. COLBY: I think if the Commission is
11		in agreement to switch to the next general item, you
12		can go ahead.
13		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: No. 6, the meeting
14		portion is the application for map amendment from
15	19:34:42	CBD-2 mixed use business district to CBC-1 central
16		business district 217-221 South 2nd Street.
17		Any discussion on the item?
18		(No response.)
19		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Is there a motion?
20	19:34:57	MEMBER AMATANGELO: So moved.
21		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: And your motion is?
22		We need a motion.
23		MEMBER AMATANGELO: This is No. 6,
24		correct?

i		
	·	30
1		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: No. 6.
2		MEMBER AMATANGELO: Recommend the
3		application for map amendment from CBD-2 mixed use
4		business district to CBC-1 central business district.
5	19:35:27	MEMBER PRETZ: Second.
6		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: All in favor.
7		(Ayes heard.)
8		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Was that subject to
9		any staff recommendation?
10	19:35:39	MEMBER AMATANGELO: Yes.
11		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Amatangelo.
12		MEMBER AMATANGELO: Yes.
13		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Doyle.
14		MEMBER DOYLE: Yes.
15	19:35:48	CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Schuetz.
16		MEMBER SCHUETZ: Yes.
17		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Pretz.
18		MEMBER PRETZ: Yes.
19		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Henningson.
20	19:35:49	MEMBER HENNINGSON: Yes.
21		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Holderfield.
22		MEMBER HOLDERFIELD: Yes.
23		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Kessler, yes.
24		All right. Motion passes. Thank you.

i		
	·	31
1		MEMBER HENNINGSON: Mr. Chairman, I do
2		have a last question for Mr. Cooke before they leave.
3		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Okay.
4		MEMBER HENNINGSON: Were you at the
5	19:36:08	grand opening when they opened this in the 1920s?
6		MR. COOKE: You know, I was busy that
7		day. I think I was at your birthday party.
8		PROCEEDINGS CONCLUDED AT 7:36 P.M.
9		
10		
11		
12		
13		
14		
15		
16		
17		
18		
19		
20		
21		
22		
23		
24		

	32
1	STATE OF ILLINOIS ) ) SS.
2	COUNTY OF K A N E )
3	
4	I, Paula M. Quetsch, Certified Shorthand
5	Reporter No. 084-004299, CSR, RPR, and a Notary
6	Public in and for the County of Kane, State of
7	Illinois, do hereby certify that I reported in
8	shorthand the proceedings had in the
9	above-entitled matter and that the foregoing is a
10	true, correct, and complete transcript of my
11	shorthand notes so taken as aforesaid.
12	IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF I have hereunto set my
13	hand and affixed my Notarial Seal this 28th day of
14	April, 2014.
15	
16	
17	Certified Shorthand Reporter
18	Registered Professional Reporter
19	
20	My commission expires
24	October 16, 2017
21	
22	
23	
24	

```
1
              100256B
 1
 2
                  STATE OF ILLINOIS
                                            SS.
 3
                  COUNTY OF K A N E
                             BEFORE THE PLAN COMMISSION
 4
                             OF THE CITY OF ST. CHARLES
 5
                  In Re the Matter of:
 6
 7
                  GENERAL AMENDMENT
                  (Terry Grove) -
                  Amendment to Chapter 17.28 )
 8
                  "Signs" regarding
                  off-premise signs in the
 9
                  CBD-1 and CBC2 zoning
                  districts.
10
11
12
13
                               REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS
14
                                  Council Chambers
15
                                 2 East Main Street
                            St. Charles, Illinois 60174
16
17
                                   April 22, 2014
                               7:37 p.m. to 7:50 p.m.
18
19
20
21
22
23
              Reported by: Paula M. Quetsch, CSR, RPR
                          Notary Public, Kane County, Illinois
24
```

				2
1	PF	RESENT:		
2		MR.	TIM KESSLER, Acting Chairman;	
3		MS.	SUE AMATANGELO, Member;	
4		MR.	BRIAN DOYLE, Member;	
5		MR.	STEVE GAUGEL, Member;	
6		MR.	CURT HENNINGSON, Member;	
7		MR.	JAMES HOLDERFIELD, Member;	
8		MR.	TOM PRETZ, Member; and	
9		MR.	TOM SCHUETZ, Member.	
10				
11	AL	SO PRES	ENT:	
12		MR.	RUSSELL COLBY, Planning Division Manager.	
13				
14				
15				
16				
17				
18				
19				
20				
21				
22				
23				
24				

		3
1		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Okay. Moving on to
2		Item 5, we're back at our public hearing, and this is
3		for a general amendment, amendment to Chapter 17.28
4		regarding off-premise signs in the CBC-1 and CBD-2
5	19:36:44	zoning districts.
6		Everybody has read about it. Do you want to
7		tell us about it?
8		MR. COLBY: We have two exhibits to
9		read in.
10	19:36:49	CHAIRMAN KESSLER: I'm sorry. You're
11		right. We have two exhibits. Exhibit A is an
12		application for the general amendment regarding
13		off-premise signs submitted by Terry F. Grove, and
14		Exhibit B is a staff report from Russell Colby,
15	19:37:10	Planning Division Manager, dated April 18th, 2014.
16		MR. COLBY: The applicant can summarize
17		the application.
18		MR. GROVE: My name is Terry Grove,
19		311 North 2nd Street, Suite 304, St. Charles.
20	19:37:36	We're talking about a building that fronts
21		on what I call an unofficial alley I don't know if
22		it's an official alley in St. Charles that runs
23		between 4th Street and 2nd Street. There's one
24		building that fronts on 2nd Street and one building

		4
1		that fronts on 4th Street, and our building fronts on
2		no street. It used to have the address of 224 North
3		4th Street, but it didn't front on that street either,
4		
	19:38:08	so we asked for a change of address to 209 North 2nd
5	19.30.00	Street.
6		We have the sign ordinance as it
7		currently exists prevents us from having any signage
8		on any kind of thoroughfare. I've been operating in
9		downtown St. Charles now for like 30 years, I believe,
10	19:38:23	and signage remains a very important issue.
11		And we have several years ago, in forming
12		an agreement between three property owners, we have an
13		easement running from our building towards 2nd Street
14		that ends about 20 feet before you get to 2nd Street,
15	19:38:49	and we have an easement and we have the right under
16		that easement not right under the City but right
17		under that easement with the property owners to erect
18		a sign at the end of that easement, and that's what we
19		would like to do with the zoning ordinance, as it now
20	19:39:06	prevents that.
21		So we would like to change the ordinance to
22		allow a sign not on our property, I guess you'd say,
23		but property we have an easement on.
24		If there are any questions, I'd be happy to

		5
1		answer them.
2		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Russ, what specifically
3		in the sign ordinance prevents Mr. Grove from putting
4		up a sign?
5	19:39:31	MR. COLBY: There is a section that
6		prohibits off-premise signs, which are signs located
7		on a lot where the sign that's the business that's
8		being advertised on the sign is not located on the
9		same lot. So, essentially, that says you cannot
10	19:39:44	locate a sign on a lot where the business is not
11		located.
12		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: And do you know of
13		any other I'm asking a question I know the answer
14		to. Are there any other properties in the downtown
15	19:39:56	area that you're aware of that have this same condition?
16		MR. COLBY: As far as we can tell, this
17		is the only lot that exists in the downtown area that
18		has no street frontage.
19		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Any questions?
20	19:40:07	Sue.
21		MEMBER AMATANGELO: Mr. Grove, the
22		easement that you're talking about, can you tell me
23		once again, where exactly is it?
24		MR. GROVE: Well, there's a how can I

		6
1		describe it? There's a fence that I don't know how
2		to describe it. Tom Anderson owns the building where
3		the athletic shoe store is. Do you know that building?
4		MEMBER GAUGEL: Dick Pond.
5	19:40:36	MR. GROVE: Bordering on the north on
6		the north side his property ends and then on the
7		north there's an easement I can't remember if it's
8		5 or 4 feet or whatever it is an easement then
9		that's about 4 feet wide that runs west to our
10	19:40:53	building. The easement does not come out to 31. It
11		ends about 30 feet short of that because there's a
12		driveway that goes through his parking lot into the
13		now it's a doctor's parking lot, used to be Rasmussen's
14		truck rental place and that sort of thing, and then
15	19:41:18	runs into Charles Center's parking lot.
16		So there's a whole kind of inner driveway
17		that runs there, and this sign is on the west side of
18		that drive, so to speak. So it doesn't interfere with
19		anythi ng.
20	19:41:32	Is that accurate enough?
21		MEMBER AMATANGELO: The parking lot that
22		is just to the east of your building
23		MR. GROVE: The parking lot for our
24		bui I di ng?

		7
1		MEMBER AMATANGELO: Yes. Is there
2		access to your I mean, can you drive through that,
3		as well, off of 31?
4		MR. GROVE: Yes. There's an alley. I
5	19:41:54	call it an unofficial alley because each property
6		there's three properties involved in getting from
7		31 through to 4th Street. The Hotel Baker owner,
8		Joe Salas, owns the first strip, and then we own the
9		middle strip, and then the print shop owns the one
10	19:42:15	from our property onto 4th Street.
11		And cars do go through there, yes, but part
12		of it is gravel. Our part is blacktop, and the
13		doctor's is blacktop, but the print shop is gravel.
14		He likes gravel and he likes holes in it so people
15	19:42:31	can't drive on it. In fact, he dug a hole across it
16		at one time.
17		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: You keep referring to
18		it as unofficial. Is it a designated alley?
19		MR. GROVE: The City has easements for
20	19:42:46	sewer and water through it.
21		MR. COLBY: There's no public access
22		easement over it, and it's not a dedicated alley that
23		the City owns or maintains.
24		MEMBER SCHUETZ: Question. So I'm

ĺ		
		8
1		familiar with the building, but right now I can't
2		recall, where is signage for your building?
3		MR. GROVE: There isn't any except on
4		the building itself but it can't be seen.
5	19:43:12	MEMBER SCHUETZ: I couldn't find it.
6		MR. GROVE: Most people can't. That's
7		why I'm here.
8		MEMBER SCHUETZ: I think Sue was trying
9		to ask, where would the sign be exactly? I don't know
10	19:43:24	if you have a picture.
11		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Show him the picture.
12		MEMBER SCHUETZ: It would be at the
13		corner of Dick Pond's building like out in front of it?
14		MR. GROVE: Right there.
15	19:43:57	MEMBER SCHUETZ: That's what I thought.
16		Is there any way to make an I don't know
17		agreement with the building that has the Heavenly Ham
18		and
19		MR. GROVE: That's my building.
20	19:44:12	MEMBER SCHUETZ: Oh. There's a big sign
21		out front that tells everything that's in there; right?
22		MR. GROVE: On our building, yes, but
23		it's not the same total ownership. 311 North 2nd
24		Street is owned by me and somebody else, and 209 is

		9
1		owned by me and my two children.
2		MEMBER SCHUETZ: So you can't put signage
3		on that sign that's already there?
4		MR. GROVE: We probably could but it's
5	19:44:39	kind of meaningless because it's not
6		MEMBER SCHUETZ: In that building?
7		MR. GROVE: People still can't find it.
8		We have people driving in right now that are looking
9		for Tom Anderson's building, et cetera. So it's not
10	19:44:52	close to 209.
11		MEMBER SCHUETZ: So you feel if the sign
12		was out, let's say pretty much right in front of
13		Dick Pond's, a little bit north, that it would be a
14		good location to direct to your building?
15	19:45:06	MR. GROVE: People would see it from
16		31, and the sign could have an arrow pointing west.
17		Right now they can't find it, and if I put it on ours,
18		which I wouldn't mind doing, they still can't find it.
19		MEMBER DOYLE: I have two questions
20	19:45:24	about the proposal which is on the bottom of page 2
21		and top of page 3.
22		First of all, this new language would only
23		allow an off-premise sign if the property that is
24		erecting it does not have frontage?

		10
1		MR. COLBY: That's correct.
2		MEMBER DOYLE: Okay. And, secondly,
3		part of the new language says, "in lieu of an
4		identification sign located on the lot." That implies
5	19:45:56	to me that if you have an identification sign
6		currently on the lot that you would have to dismantle
7		that sign to erect an off-premise sign. Is that the
8		intent of this application is that the intent of
9		the language?
10	19:46:10	MR. COLBY: It is the intent but the
11		sign that's existing there now is a wall sign, which
12		is a different category of sign. An identification
13		sign is actually a freestanding sign, which he does
14		not currently have on his building.
15	19:46:25	MEMBER DOYLE: And the term the
16		phrase "identification sign" is defined in the
17		ordi nance?
18		MR. COLBY: Yes.
19		MEMBER DOYLE: So this applies
20	19:46:33	specifically to a freestanding sign, not a wall sign?
21		MR. COLBY: Correct.
22		MEMBER SCHUETZ: Would the sign I
23		think I know the answer, but just to confirm, the sign
24		would have to follow the ordinance's rules in size and

		11
1		everythi ng?
2		MR. COLBY: Yes. The same rules would
3		apply as if it were located on the lot would apply to
4		this location. The only change that's being made is
5	19:47:00	it's allowing the location of that same sign to be
6		somewhere else.
7		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Any other questions,
8		comments?
9		(No response.)
10	19:47:15	CHAIRMAN KESSLER: There's no public
11		well, you can be public. Anything?
12		THE COURT REPORTER: No.
13		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Well, do we have
14		other information? Is there a motion to close the
15	19:47:27	public hearing?
16		MEMBER DOYLE: So moved.
17		MEMBER AMATANGELO: Second.
18		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Amatangelo.
19		MEMBER AMATANGELO: Yes.
20	19:47:37	CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Doyle.
21		MEMBER DOYLE: Yes.
22		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Schuetz.
23		MEMBER SCHUETZ: Yes.
24		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Pretz.

		12
1		MEMBER PRETZ: Yes.
2		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Henningson.
3		MEMBER HENNINGSON: Yes.
4		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Holderfield.
5	19:47:44	MEMBER HOLDERFIELD: Yes.
6		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Kessler, yes.
7		Moving on to Item 7, the amendment to
8		Chapter 17.28 regarding off-premise signs in the CBC-1
9		and CBD-2 zoning districts, any discussion on the item?
10	19:48:00	(No response.)
11		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Is there a motion?
12		MEMBER DOYLE: I would move that we
13		recommend approval of a general amendment to
14		Chapter 17.28 "Signs" regarding off-premise signs in
15	19:48:11	the CBC-1 and CBD-2 zoning districts subject to
16		resolution of any staff comments, if any.
17		MEMBER SCHUETZ: Second.
18		MEMBER PRETZ: Can you repeat that
19		last part?
20	19:48:27	MEMBER DOYLE: Subject to resolution of
21		any staff comments, if any.
22		MEMBER PRETZ: Thanks.
23		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Amatangelo.
24		MEMBER AMATANGELO: Yes.

ĺ			$\neg$
		13	;
1		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Doyle.	
2		MEMBER DOYLE: Yes.	
3		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Schuetz.	
4		MEMBER SCHUETZ: Yes.	
5	19:48:37	CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Pretz.	
6		MEMBER PRETZ: Yes.	
7		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Henningson.	
8		MEMBER HENNINGSON: Yes.	
9		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Holderfield.	
10	19:48:41	MEMBER HOLDERFIELD: Yes.	
11		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Kessler, yes.	
12		All right. Thank you very much.	
13		MR. GROVE: Thank you very much.	
14		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Agenda Item 8 is	
15	19:48:47	meeting announcements. May 6th and May 20th.	
16		MEMBER AMATANGELO: I will not be here	
17		on the 20th.	
18		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Going somewhere nice	
19		I hope.	
20	19:48:58	MEMBER AMATANGELO: Italy.	
21		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Where are you going?	
22		MEMBER AMATANGELO: Tuscany.	
23		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Anybody else? I have	
24		no plans to be gone those two.	

		14
1		(No response.)
2		
		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Any additional
3		business from the Plan Commission members oh, Plan
4		Commission member additional business.
5	19:49:44	MEMBER HENNINGSON: I just want to let
6		you know that my term on the Plan Commission expires
7		at the end of April, and this is my last meeting
8		toni ght.
9		So it's been a pleasure working with all you
10	19:49:58	guys. I've enjoyed getting to know you and working
11		together. I'll be around.
12		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Okay. Staff, any
13		additional business?
14		(No response.)
15	19:50:15	CHAIRMAN KESSLER: No public. No
16		additional business.
17		Is there a motion to adjourn?
18		MEMBER AMATANGELO: So moved.
19		MEMBER SCHUETZ: Second.
20	19:50:25	CHAIRMAN KESSLER: In all favor.
21		(Ayes heard.)
22		CHAIRMAN KESSLER: Adjourned at 7:50.
23		PROCEEDINGS CONCLUDED AT 7:50 P.M.
24		

24